Ousw/app

FILED SID J WHITE SID J WHITE 1991 CLERK, SUPREME COURT By______ Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

case no. 78, 308

GEORGE MYLES,

Petitioner,

-vs-

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON APPLICATION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON JURISDICTION **BENNETT H. BRUMMER** Public Defender Eleventh Judicial Circuit of Florida 1351 N.W. 12th Street Miami, Florida 33125 (305) 545-3003 HOWARD K. BLUMBERG Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 264385 Counsel for Petitioner

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The pertinent facts relevant to a determination of whether discretionary review is warranted are set forth in the opinion of the district court as follows:

> Appellant, George Lee Myles, appeals his conviction and sentence for multiple counts of sexual battery. We affirm.

> Appellant contends that the trial court erred: . . (3) by limiting appellant's access to his attorney during the closed circuit television testimony of the victim . . .

> At trial, the child victim testified through closed circuit television from the judge's chambers where the judge, prosecutor, defense attorney and court reporter were present. Meanwhile, appellant, bailiff, and the jury viewed the closed circuit testimony from the courtroom. The trial court advised appellant that, during the child's testimony, he could communicate with his attorney by writing his communication and having the bailiff deliver it to his lawyer. The following discussion took place:

<u>The Court</u>: I'm giving him the right to communicate with his attorney by telling the bailiff, and let him tell you immediately whatever he says.

> I can't imagine that five seconds is going, or ten seconds is going to cause any problem. And, if it did it would be enough for a mistrial anyhow, if it was that serious of a matter.

Defense Counsel: All right, Judge.

During the entire closed circuit direct examination testimony, appellant did not request to communicate with his lawyer. Further, appellant was given an opportunity to communicate with his lawyer before his lawyer cross examined the child victim.

We find no error in appellant's third contention. The trial court neither violated the express language nor principles of Section 92.54(4), Florida Statutes (1989). The statute provides:

During the child's testimony by closed circuit television, the court may require the defendant to view the testimony from the courtroom. In such a case, the court shall permit the defendant to observe and hear the testimony of the child, but shall ensure that the child cannot hear or see the defendant. The judge and defendant and the persons in the room where the child is testifying may communicate by any appropriate electronic method.

Contrary to appellant's suggestion, the statute does not mandate electronic communication. Rather the statute suggests, by the use of the term "may", that there may be other appropriate means of attorney/client communication. See, e.g., Glendenning v. State, 536 So.2d 212 (Fla. 1988), cert. denied, U.S. ____, 109 S.Ct. 3219, 106 L.Ed.2d 569 (1989). Here, rather than allowing communication through a statutorily suggested electronic means, the trial court used a more mundane method, writing.

(A. 1-5).

Notice of invocation of this Court's discretionary jurisdiction to review the decision of the District Court of Appeal was filed July 18, 1991.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In the present case, the Third District Court of Appeal ruled that Section 92.54(4), Florida Statutes (1987) does not mandate electronic communication between the accused and his attorney during the closed circuit television testimony of a child witness. That ruling expressly and directly conflicts with the ruling by the Second District Court of Appeal in D.A.D. v. State, 566 So.2d 257 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990) that Section 92.54(4) requires that the accused and his attorney be permitted to communicate by any appropriate electronic method during the closed circuit testimony of a child witness. Accordingly, this Court's exercise of its discretionary jurisdiction to review the decision in the instant case is warranted.

ARGUMENT

THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, THIRD DISTRICT, IN THE PRESENT CASE EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH THE DECISION OF THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN D.A.D. v. STATE, 566 So.2d 257 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990).

This Court's jurisdiction to review decisions of district courts of appeal because of alleged conflict is invoked by (1) the announcement of a rule of law which conflicts with a rule previously announced in a district court or Supreme Court decision, or (2) the application of a rule of law to produce a different result in a case which involves substantially the same facts as a prior district court or Supreme Court decision. Neilsen v. City of Sarasota, 117 So.2d 731 (Fla. 1960). In the present case, the Third District Court of Appeal announced a rule of law which conflicts with a rule previously announced by the Fifth District Court of Appeal in D.A.D. v. State, 566 So.2d 257 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990). As a result, this Court's exercise of its discretionary jurisdiction to review the decision in the instant case is warranted.

Section 92.54, Florida Statutes (1987), which authorizes the taking of the testimony of child witnesses outside of the courtroom and shown by means of closed-circuit television, establishes the following requirement concerning communication between a defendant and his attorney:

> (4) During the child's testimony by closed circuit television, the court may require the defendant to view the testimony from the courtroom. In such a case, the court shall permit the defendant to observe and hear the testimony of the child, but shall ensure that

the child cannot hear or see the defendant. The judge and defendant and the persons in the room where the child is testifying may communicate by any appropriate electronic method.

At the trial in this case, the alleged child victim testified through closed circuit television from the judge's chambers where the judge, prosecutor, defense attorney and court reporter were present. Meanwhile, defendant Myles, the bailiff, and the jury viewed the closed circuit testimony from the courtroom. Notwithstanding the fact that electronic means for communication between George Myles and his attorney had been set up prior to the closed-circuit television testimony of the child witness, the trial judge refused to allow Myles to utilize those means during the testimony. In upholding this ruling by the trial judge, the district court of appeal held that Section 92.54(4) "does not mandate electronic communication" between the accused and his attorney during the closed circuit television testimony of the child witness. (A. 5).

In D.A.D. v. State, supra, the defendant was convicted of attempted lewd assault on a child. At the request of the prosecutor, the alleged child victims were permitted to testify at trial outside the presence of the defendant. The judge, counsel and the witness went into chambers and the witness's testimony was broad-cast over a speaker into the courtroom where the defendant was required to remain.

On appeal, the conviction was reversed based upon the trial court's failure to comply with the requirements of Section 92.54, Florida Statutes (1987). One of the statutory violations

found by the district court was the failure to provide electronic means of communication between the defendant and the persons in the room where the child was testifying:

Further, the judge failed to insure that he and the persons in the room where the child was testifying and the defendant could communicate by any appropriate electronic method as required by Section 92.54(4), Florida Statutes (1987).

D.A.D. v. State, supra, 566 So.2d at 258.

The ruling in the case at bar by the Third District Court of Appeal that Section 92.54(4) does not mandate electronic communication between the accused and his attorney during the closed circuit television testimony of a child witness expressly and directly conflicts with the ruling by the Second District Court of Appeal in D.A.D. that Section 92.54(4) requires that the accused and his attorney be permitted to communicate by any appropriate electronic method during the closed circuit testimony of a child witness. Accordingly, this Court's exercise of its discretionary jurisdiction to review the decision in the instant case is warranted.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing facts, authorities and arguments, petitioner respectfully requests this Court to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction to review the decision of the Third District Court of Appeal.