NHITE S١ 26 1991 CLERK, SUPREME COURT By-Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 78,308

3d DCA Case No. 88-961

GEORGE MYLES,

Petitioner,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON JURISDICTION

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

ANITA J. GAY Florida Bar # 0745227 Assistant Attorney General Department of Legal Affairs P.O. Box 013241 401 N.W. 2nd Avenue, Suite N921 Miami, Florida 33101 (305) 377-5441

INTRODUCTION

The petitioner, George Myles, was the defendant in the trial court and the appellant in the District Court of Appeal of Florida, Third District. The respondent, The State of Florida, was the prosecution in the trial court and the appellee in the District Court of Appeal. In this brief the symbol "A" will be used to designate the appendix.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Respondent accepts the statement of the case put forth by the Petitioner as substantially correct.

QUESTION PRESENTED

WHETHER THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA HAS DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION TO REVIEW THE DECISION BELOW?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The decision of the Third District Court of Appeal does not expressly and directly conflict with a decision of another district court, thus, this Court does not have the authority to review of the decision below.

ARGUMENT

THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA DOES NOT HAVE DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION TO REVIEW THE DECISION BELOW.

Article V, section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution and Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv) limit the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court to review conflict among the district courts of appeal with the following:

(2) Discretionary Jurisdiction. The discretionary jurisdiction of the Supreme Court may be sought to review:

(A) decisions of district courts of appeal that:
(iv) expressly and directly conflict with a decision of another district court of appeal or of the Supreme Court on the same question of law;

The decision of which the Petitioner seeks review does not "expressly and directly" conflict with a decision of another district court, thus, this Court lacks the authority to review the decision below.

Petitioner has failed to establish the jurisdiction of this Court by demonstrating that the decision of the lower court, in ruling that Section 92.54(4), Florida Statutes does not mandate electronic communication between the accused and his attorney, is

-4-

in direct conflict with a decision of another district court. As stated by this Court in <u>Reaves v. State</u>, 485 So.2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986), "[c]onflict between decisions must be express and direct, i.e., it must appear within the four corners of the majority decision." Conflict between the Third District, in the instant case, and the Fifth District, in <u>D.A.D. v. State</u>, 566 So.2d 257 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990), is not apparent from the four corners of the majority decision. (Appendix A).

The Third District held that the statute does not mandate electronic communication between the defendant and his attorney, "[r]ather the statute suggests, by, by the use of the term 'may', that there may be other appropriate means of attorney/client The of communication." (App. Α, 5). use written p. communication, as well as communication via a bailiff, in the instant case violated neither the express language nor principles In addition to having the ability to of Section 92.54(4). communicate with his attorney throughout direct examination of the child victim, Myles was given an opportunity to confer with his attorney prior to cross examination, thus protecting his constitutional right to confrontation of witnesses. Conversely, in D.A.D., supra., the defendant was unable to communicate with his attorney during the entire testimony of the child victims, thereby denying the defendant of his right to confrontation. The same question of law was not presented to the to the district courts in both this case and D.A.D., therefore conflict does not exist.

-5-

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing arguments and citations of authority the petition for review should be dismissed with prejudice.